Vitamin B12: A secondary analysis of status, biomarkers and other determinants in young and elderly women.

Jason Cocker, BSc PGDipSci

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Dietetics

At the University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand

November 2015

Primary Supervisor: Samir Samman

Secondary Supervisor: Jill Haszard

Abstract

Background/Aim: Vitamin B12 has multiple functions within the human body, including roles as a co-factor for both the one carbon metabolism cycle and methylmalonyl CoA mutase. Vitamin B12 deficiency can have serious lifelong consequences. The aim of this study is to explore the associations between markers of vitamin B12 status and other biochemical, dietary and physical measures.

Methods: Three data sets composed of either young omnivore women (n=65; age 24.5 \pm 4.4 y; mean \pm SD), randomly selected young women (n=305; age 22.5 \pm 3.9) and elderly women (n=44; age 80.5 \pm 7.6) were examined. Associations between vitamin B12 biomarkers and other selected biomarkers of nutritional status (i.e. serum folate, erythrocyte folate), lifestyle factors such as; dietary intake, alcohol intake, oral contraceptive pill (OCP) use (in the non-elderly groups), and other factors such as BMI were examined using mixed effects regression, accounting for study clusters.

Results: Serum vitamin B12 stratification (low, medium or high) was not associated with likelihood of being classed as having a raised methylmalonic acid (MMA) and/or homocysteine (tHcy) (p=0.316). Younger women who used the OCP had serum vitamin B12 concentrations that were 72.3 (SE=12.4) pmol/L lower than non-users (p<0.001), there was however no associations between OCP use and tHcy (p=0.669) or MMA (p=0.595) concentrations. Serum vitamin B12 concentration (pmol/L) was related positively to both serum folate (nmol/L) (β =0.018 95% CI: 0.009, 0.026, p<0.001) and erythrocyte folate (nmol/L) (β =0.456 95% CI: 0.164, 0.747, p<0.01). Vitamin B12 was marginally associated with the intake of protein (p<0.05) and negatively associated with alcohol intake (p<0.001).

ii

Conclusions: The lack of an association between serum vitamin B12 stratifications and metabolite cut-offs suggest that you are not more likely to have raised metabolites in conjunction with any of the three serum vitamin B12 cut-offs. The lack of negative metabolite consequences in those who use the OCP suggest that the decreased serum vitamin B12 is possibly inconsequential. This, however, suggests that in populations who are frequent users of the OCP, serum vitamin B12 may not be suitable as a primary measure of vitamin B12 status. Alcohol use in Australia females is above the global average and suggests that this group are at increased risk of decreased vitamin B12 status due to alcohol intake. Serum vitamin B12 proved less than ideal throughout this study as a primary marker of vitamin B12 status. It was unable to show concordance with MMA and tHcy cut-offs and demonstrated it was unsuitable as a primary marker in OCP users. This suggests that it is time for a new primary marker of status with holo-transcobalamin II being the likely successor. Research needs to be focused on this marker of status in the future to determine the factors which affect it so we can be better suited to use it as a primary marker of status.

Preface

The proposal for this project was developed and supervised by Professor Samir Samman (Department of Human Nutrition, University of Otago). Dr Jill Haszard (Department of Human Nutrition, University of Otago), was a co-supervisor for the project, and was involved in statistical analysis and interpretation of results. Dr Fiona O'Leary (Discipline of Nutrition & Metabolism, School of Molecular Bioscience, The University of Sydney), Dr Flavia Fayet-Moore (Discipline of Nutrition & Metabolism, School of Molecular Bioscience, The University of Nutrition & Metabolism, School of Molecular Bioscience, The University of Nutrition & Metabolism, School of Molecular Bioscience, The University of Sydney), and Dr Jennifer McArthur (Discipline of Nutrition & Metabolism, School of Molecular Bioscience, The University of Sydney) completed the primary studies of which the data were used for this secondary analysis. As part of the thesis, the candidate:

- Cleaned and transformed the data set to give uniform results for secondary analysis.
- Undertook secondary analysis of the combined data set using Stata V14.0.
- Interpreted the outputs of secondary analysis and developed methods of accurately displaying these results.
- Was responsible for the write up of the thesis.

Both Professor Samman and Dr Haszard were responsible for providing feedback for work completed by the candidate. Professor Samman, Dr Haszard, Dr O'Leary, Dr Fayet-Moore, and Jennifer McArthur all provided feedback on abstracts for conference submission.

Acknowledgements

Thank you very much to my supervisor, Professor Samir Samman. Your vast knowledge of my topic and your expertise in research has been invaluable throughout this experience. Thank you for pushing me to further my work and gain as much as possible from this experience. Your analysis and feedback of my work has been irreplaceable and your passion for vitamin B12 has proved infectious throughout.

To Dr Jill Haszard, thank you for all the help you have provided throughout. Without you I fear I would still be trying to get my head around Stata. Your continued advice has been much appreciated and your knowledge of statistical analysis and interpretation unparalleled.

To all others who have helped along the way, many thanks for the advice and support you have given me, whether it be thesis advice or not, it is all much appreciated

To my family and friends, thank you for the ongoing support. Your enduring interest in my project has helped me maintain my sanity and get my thoughts out of my head.

To my fellow MDiet students, thanks for all the laughs and good times, through the good and the bad we have all come through the end, all the best with your future careers.

Finally to Jacky and Pete, you've been by my side throughout my studies, and I couldn't imagine what it would have been like without the two of you. You've grown to be my brothers and I wish only the best for you both.

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Preface	iv
Acknowledgements	v
Table of Contents	vi
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
Chapter One: Introduction	10
Chapter Two: Literature Review	12
2.1 Background	12
2.1.1 History	12
2.1.2 Physiology and Function	13
2.2 Biochemical Assessment of Vitamin B12 Status	15
2.2.1 Serum Vitamin B12	15
2.2.2 Methylmalonic Acid	16
2.2.3 Total Homocysteine	17
2.2.4 Holo-Transcobalamin II	18
2.2.5 Summary	19
2.3 Nutrition and bioavailability	20
2.3.1 Food sources	20
2.3.2 Bioavailability	20
2.4 Vitamin B12 Requirements	21
2.5 Deficiency State	22
2.6 Deficiency Causes	23
2.6.1 Severe Malabsorption	23
2.6.2 Mild Malabsorption	24
2.6.3 Dietary Deficiency	24
2.6.4 Other Factors Affecting Vitamin B12 Levels	25
2.7 Conclusion	25
Chapter Three: Objective statement	27
Chapter Four: Methods	28
4.1 Study Designs	28
4.1.1 Recruitment	28

4.1.2 Nutrient analysis	29
4.1.3 Blood sampling and testing	29
4.2 Statistical Methods	30
Chapter Five: Results	33
5.1 Biomarkers	34
5.2 Oral Contraceptive Pill Use	40
5.3 Lifestyle factors	40
Chapter Six: Discussion	43
6.1 Strengths and Limitations	48
6.2 Conclusion	49
Chapter Seven: Application of research to dietetic practice	51
References	53
Appendix A: Vitamin B12 content of whole foods	59
Appendix B: Bioavailability	61
Appendix C: Box plots of vitamin B12 markers	62
C.1 Box plot of serum vitamin B12 concentrations sorted by group	62
C.2 Box plot of serum tHcy sorted by group	63
C.3 Box plot of serum MMA sorted by group	64

List of Tables

Table 1: Biomarkers of Vitamin B12 status with cut-offs for deficiency
Table 2: Deficiency measure cut-offs and location utilised
Table 3: Descriptive characteristics of study groups
Table 4: Vitamin B12 deficiency using criteria from Hunt et al. clinical review of
deficiency
Table 5: Vitamin B12 deficiency/sub-clinical deficiency using Carmel & Sarrai composite
criteria
Table 6: Vitamin B12 deficiency based on serum vitamin B12, serum tHcy with accounts
for serum folate status
Table 7: Concordance between MMA levels and tHcy levels stratified by serum vitamin
B12 status
Table 8: Serum vitamin B12 deficiency classified by oral contraceptive use
Table 9: Associations between serum vitamin B12, serum tHcy, and serum MMA with
energy and protein intakes and BMI

List of Figures

Figure 1: Structure of Vitamin B12	13
Figure 2: Absorption of vitamin B12 process	14
Figure 3: Linear relationships between serum folate and erythrocyte folate with serum vitamin B12, serum tHcy and serum MMA	38
Figure 4: Box plot of serum vitamin B12 concentration sorted by oral contraceptive pill user status.	41

Chapter One: Introduction

In the early 1900's pernicious anaemia was a perplexing and harmful medical diagnosis that would not see a potential treatment until 1926. Minot and Murphy announced they had cured 45 patients of their pernicious anaemia by persuading them to consume a diet containing up to half a pound of beef liver per day (1). The source of treatment in beef liver was termed vitamin B12 and the discovery of its complete structure eventuated in 1956 by a team lead by Dorothy C. Hodgkin (2). She would later receive the Nobel Prize in Chemistry for her work in determining the structures of important biochemical substances.

In the present we have three main markers of vitamin B12 which are commonly used to determine an individual's vitamin B12 status (3-5). The three main measures are serum vitamin B12, homocysteine (tHcy), and methylmalonic acid (MMA). While serum vitamin B12 is considered the primary marker of status, tHcy and MMA are considered to be appropriate for monitoring change following vitamin B12 supplementation/treatment. The three markers have also been combined in a possible method for determining a subclinical deficiency state (3).

This being said, all three markers of status have their own flaws. Serum vitamin B12 measures vitamin B12 in sera which is both; metabolically available (holo-transcobalamin II) and metabolically unavailable (holohaptocorrin) (4, 5). This opens up the possibility for holohaptocorrin to falsely infer deficiency or inversely mask true deficiency. Homocysteine is also affected by many other factors other than vitamin B12. Folate and renal status among others affect tHcy levels more than do vitamin B12; as such levels of this marker must be further interpreted before classification of vitamin B12 deficiency (4, 5). Methylmalonic acid can be falsely increased in the elderly and those with renal impairments (4). While these are the main causes of variation, they account for only a small proportion of variation.

The reliance of serum vitamin B12 as our primary measure of status is a potentially negative tendency given its uncertainties. New techniques have given us the ability to accurately measure holo-transcobalamin II (holo-TC II). While this method is now more available we need to further understand the factors which affect it, requiring ongoing research.

Currently there is no gold standard measure of vitamin B12 deficiency, a factor which limits our ability to recognise and diagnose deficiency. As such it is important to determine how the markers of status have been used to determine deficiency in the past and how they could potentially be used in the future.

Outside of the biomarkers of status it is important to determine which factors may be affecting vitamin B12 status in our study population. Factors of particular importance include use of an oral contraceptive pill (OCP) and alcohol intake. It is also important to decide if associations between vitamin B12 levels and other factors are authentic or spurious.

Chapter Two: Literature Review

2.1 Background

2.1.1 History

Early in the previous century, hospitals around the world began to experience an increase in the recognition of a perplexing form of anaemia which carried dire consequences for those affected (6). The outlook for these individuals despite the occasional slight improvement in treatment, was by no means positive (6). This anaemia had aptly been named "pernicious anaemia" because of its harmful and at the time deadly effect (6). In 1908, Richard C. Cabot (7), analysed the time of survival in 1200 such patients and found that survival following the onset of said disease was generally from one to three years. His results also showed that in only six patients of the 1200, was permanent recovery witnessed (7). It wasn't until 1926 that the medical world was stunned by a potential treatment. Minot and Murphy (1) announced that they had effectively eliminated the anaemia in a group of 45 patients by persuading them to eat for some months, a diet that contained up to half a pound of beef liver daily.

Following the announcement of Minot and Murphy, purified beef liver extracts were produced (6) with continuing improvement until in 1948 when the source of activity in pernicious anaemia treatment present in beef liver was discovered and published. The source of activity was identified as crystalline cyanocobalamin by Karl Folkers and associates (8), and then again only a few weeks later by Smith and Parker (9). The active substance was termed "Vitamin B12." Following its isolation, exhaustive research over a decade by many investigators resulted in the discovery of the complete structure of vitamin B12. This was completed in 1956 by Dorothy C. Hodgkin's group (2) and she was later awarded the Nobel Prize in Chemistry for her efforts in 1964. The structure of vitamin B12 is outlined in Figure 1.



Figure 1 Structure of Vitamin B12 (10)

2.1.2 Physiology and Function

Stepping forward in time, our understanding of vitamin B12 and the way it is processed and absorbed has progressed remarkably. The mechanism by which vitamin B12 is absorbed into the body is complex and is outlined in Figure 2. Vitamin B12 under normal circumstances is introduced to the body bound to protein following the ingestion of food. In the stomach vitamin B12 is cleaved from protein by gastric pepsin (11) produced in the parietal cells. The parietal cells also produce and secrete intrinsic factor (IF), another essential factor related to vitamin B12 absorption (12). Unbound vitamin B12 within the stomach is then preferentially bound by haptocorrin (TC I) (11). Degradation of TC I occurs in the upper intestine by pancreatic proteases as it leaves the stomach (13). The rereleased vitamin B12 is now available to be bound by IF forming an IF-vitamin B12 complex (13). This complex travels through the intestine to the ilium, where it is taken up by the IF receptor, cubilin, located on gut epithelial cells (14). The IF-vitamin B12 complex is degraded in the ileal cell endosome releasing vitamin B12, which eventually reaches the abluminal surface of the ileal cell and enters the bloodstream attached to transcobalamin II (TC II) (15).



Figure 2 Absorption of vitamin B12 process (10)

Vitamin B12 has two known functions in the human body, including serving as a cofactor in the methylation of homocysteine to methionine, and as a cofactor in the rearrangement of L-methylmalonyl-coenzyme A to succinyl-coenzyme A (4).

2.2 Biochemical Assessment of Vitamin B12 Status

Methods of diagnosing vitamin B12 deficiency fall into one of two categories, these being: measures of vitamin B12 amounts (i.e. serum vitamin B12 or holo-TC II); or measures of functional metabolic status, such as vitamin B12 metabolite biomarkers (i.e. MMA or tHcy) (4). Currently no diagnostic gold standard for vitamin B12 status exists (4). See Table 1 for collated information on vitamin B12 status measures.

Biomarker	Biopsy	Gold Standard	Cut-off of	References
	Marker	Measurement Method	Deficiency	
Serum	Blood Sera	Automated,	< 148 pmol/L	12, 13, 19
Vitamin B12		Competitive-binding		
		immune		
		chemiluminescence		
MMA	Blood Sera	Gas chromatography-	> 270 nmol/L	12, 19
		mass spectrometry		
tHcy	Blood Plasma	Enzyme Immunoassay	$> 10 \ \mu mol/L$	12, 13, 22
Holo-TC II	Blood Sera	2-step sandwich	$< \sim 40 \text{ pmol/L}$	29, 30
		microparticle enzyme		
		immunoassay		

Table 1 Biomarkers of Vitamin B12 status with cut-offs for deficiency

2.2.1 Serum Vitamin B12

Serum vitamin B12 is the measure of total vitamin B12 in the sera of an individual. This includes both holo-haptocorrin and holo-TC II (5, 16). Measurement of serum vitamin B12 is currently the most commonly used method for evaluating status (5), there is however much disagreement about the reliability of this method and some studies have shown systematic overestimates of vitamin B12 status in individuals with established deficiency (as measured by serum vitamin B12), often with pernicious anaemia (17-19).

The earliest employed methods of serum vitamin B12 analysis relied on microorganisms. The growth of these organisms was proportional to the content of vitamin B12 in an individual's sample, allowing the determination of the content of vitamin B12 in the sample (20). The current test for serum vitamin B12 is widely available, as well as being relatively cheap (5). It uses an automated method and competitive-binding immune chemiluminescence (5).

It is suggested by some that a serum vitamin B12 level of <148 pmol/L is sensitive enough to diagnose 97% of patients with deficiency (5), and this appears to be a similar cut-off that the majority of studies have employed since cut-offs were impossibly low in the 1950's (21). Carmel reported (4) that some investigators raised the cut-off of deficiency from 148 to 258 pmol/L in order to ensure no case of deficiency be missed (4). The gross over-diagnosis of this change was substantial and MMA and tHcy results of these patients suggest that two thirds of the newly classified deficient patients had suspect results. Furthermore, very few of the remaining one third had clinical deficiency (4).

As only approximately 20-30% of the vitamin B12 in serum is in the holo-TC II form (16), the serum vitamin B12 test may mask true deficiency or falsely infer a deficient state. The high amounts of holo-haptocorrin which are largely metabolically unavailable can mask the true amount of holo-TC II, conversely a low holohaptocorrin concentration may imply deficiency when levels of the available holo-TC II are sufficient for metabolic processes (5, 16, 21). This fact renders the serum vitamin B12 test potentially unreliable.

2.2.2 Methylmalonic Acid

The conversion of L-methylmalonyl-CoA to succinyl-CoA relies on the interaction of methylmalonyl-CoA mutase and its cofactor vitamin B12 (in the form of 5'-deoxyadenosylcobalamin). In the absence of vitamin B12, D-methylmalonic acid (MMA)

accumulates in the body (4, 21). It is for this fact that MMA can be used as an indicator for vitamin B12 status.

Analysis of MMA begun in the late 1950's (21) when it became possible to look at the amount of MMA in pooled samples of urine. Moving forward in time, more sensitive methods of MMA analysis appeared and made it possible to measure small amounts of serum with increasing accuracy and precision (22, 23). Currently, MMA can be measured reliably by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (21).

Reference cut-offs for MMA vary widely but the most commonly applied cut-off is ~270 nmol/L, with many laboratories defining cut-offs based on two or three standard deviations from the mean (~270 or 370 nmol/L respectively). While 270 nmol/L is the most common cut-off, there is much variation with levels ranging from 210 - 370 nmol/L (21).

Many experts currently see MMA as the best metabolic test available for confirmation of vitamin B12 deficiency, with normal MMA levels providing compelling evidence to disprove deficiency (4). There are however limitations of MMA measurements which occur in older patients (>65) and those with renal impairments. In these individuals levels can be falsely increased. These two factors are the main causes of variation but still only explain a small proportion of variation. Still, high levels of MMA can usually be explained by vitamin B12 deficiency, especially if coupled with symptoms of deficiency.

2.2.3 Total Homocysteine

Increased plasma tHcy, like MMA is a marker of vitamin B12 deficiency and indicates impaired methionine synthase activity (4). Furthermore, elevated tHcy concentrations are weakly associated with an increase in cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk. However, causality remains uncertain (24, 25). Like MMA, tHcy is used for monitoring changes following vitamin B12 therapy (21) and it has comparable sensitivity to MMA (4, 21).

Questions are raised about tHcy's ability to be considered as a biomarker for vitamin B12 status however due to other factors affecting levels. Both folate status and renal status affect tHcy levels more than that of vitamin B12 (26), and there are many other factors which raise tHcy, such as vitamin B6 status and hyperthyroidism (5).

Nevertheless, cut-offs for tHcy are defined and plasma levels of tHcy lower than 10 μ mol/L are considered optimal (4). Many laboratories however use cut-offs of 12 to 14 μ mol/L in adult men and 10 to 12 μ mol/L in premenopausal women (4). A recent review by Hunt et al. states that the cut-off used also depends on the individual technique utilised to measure tHcy, and suggests that a cut-off of 15 μ mol/L should be regarded as high (5).

2.2.4 Holo-Transcobalamin II

Holo transcobalamin II is the complex of the serum transport protein TC II with attached vitamin B12 (27). Transcobalamin II has an important role in the blood, but small quantities are also found in other fluids (i.e. milk, cerebrospinal fluid, semen) (28). Vitamin B12 is rapidly delivered to the tissues of the body by Holo-TC II as it has a relatively short plasma half-life of around 90 minutes (compared to the holo-haptocorrin I half-life of 9-10 days) (29).

It was first postulated in 1983 (30) that the measurement of holo-TC II may result in a more accurate measure of vitamin B12 status than its predecessor, total vitamin B12. It was not until 2002 that reliable methods of analysis surfaced in the forms of an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (31) and a radioimmunoassay (32). Holo-TC II assays are now more accurate and a fully automated method developed in 2008 (33) has become commercially available.

As with other measures of vitamin B12 status, reference limits vary and a standard level is not available. One study evaluating laboratory performance (34) compared available data

from 8 studies. These studies reported lower limits of healthy holo-TC II ranging from 11-41 pmol/L (34). The authors summarised that a lower limit of ~40 pmol/L was most likely the best estimate of a healthy status (34). The fully automated method developed in 2008 however identified a 95% CI cut-off of only 19 pmol/L (33).

Low concentrations of holo-TC II can indicate one of two things; firstly that there is impaired transfer of holo-TC II from the ileal cell into the bloodstream (vitamin B12 malabsorption), and secondly that there is insufficient availability of vitamin B12 for tissues (metabolic insufficiency) (35). As both of these indications have merit (36), the analysis of holo-TC II is rendered unspecific for diagnosing one problem over the other.

2.2.5 Summary

The above information highlights the lack of clarity available in the classification of vitamin B12 status. Without specific cut-offs, diagnosis of deficiency without symptoms becomes more difficult. Using combinations of vitamin B12 markers has been suggested by both Carmel & Sarrai (3) and Bailey et al (37). in the past with Carmel & Sarrai (3) suggesting that a composite criteria be utilised, in which serum vitamin B12 < 148 pmol/L, or 148-258 pmol/L and MMA > 0.3 μ mol/L, or tHcy > 13 μ mol/L (female) and > 15 μ mol/L (male) be used to indicate inadequate vitamin B12 status. Bailey et al. opted to use both serum vitamin B12 and MMA results to analyse results from the NHANES data (37). Another recent clinical review by Hunt et al. (5) outlined the clinical diagnosis and management of vitamin B12 deficiency including a serum vitamin B12 cut-off for deficiency of <148 pmol/L or a tHcy >15 μ mol/L which may be indicative of vitamin B12 deficiency.

2.3 Nutrition and bioavailability

2.3.1 Food sources

Vitamin B12 is synthesised by certain bacteria and archaea (38). Animals that ingest said microorganisms then absorb and concentrate the produced vitamin B12 in their tissues (39). Plants do not provide a naturally occurring bioactive form of vitamin B12, some plant foods may contain added vitamin B12 while others such as mushrooms contain vitamin B12 analogues which are inactive in humans and as such provide no nutritional benefit (39). However some studies have shown that dried green and purple algae (nori) may contain vitamin B12 which may be active (39), while other edible algae contain only trace or no vitamin B12 (39). Furthermore, certain types of Japanese seaweeds have prevented deficiency in vegans (40). Excluding nori, active vitamin B12 is found only in foods originating from an animal source (41). See appendix A for a compiled list of vitamin B12 containing foods, including a more in depth analysis of vitamin B12 contain foods.

2.3.2 Bioavailability

Currently there appears to be limited information on the bioavailability of vitamin B12 in humans. What is known however is that in the average human the absorption of vitamin B12 has been shown to have varying results based on the type and quantity of protein that is consumed (41). Vitamin B12 from whole foods shows us that there appears to be different absorption rates with certain foods having much higher absorption than others, for example, studies show that chicken (42) and fish (43) have relatively high absorption (\geq 61% and \geq 30% respectively) when compared to another common vitamin B12 source such as eggs (3.7-9.2%) (44). The main limiting factor in vitamin B12 absorption is an IFmediated system which limits the amount of vitamin B12 that can be absorbed from a single oral dose to around 1.5-2.0 µg (20). The limiting factor is likely to be the number of ileal receptors rather than available IF, as this is produced in abundance by the body (20).

Appendix B gives an adapted insight into bioavailability of certain animal products from O'Leary & Samman (45).

2.4 Vitamin B12 Requirements

The current Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand (46) state that for both male and female adults, the RDI of vitamin B12 is 2.4 μ g/day. The RDI for pregnant females is slightly higher (2.6 μ g/day) to account for foetal and placental needs. The RDI for lactating women is slightly higher again (2.8 μ g/day) to account for the average amount of vitamin B12 secreted in breast milk per day. These levels mirror those of the United States RDA values for vitamin B12 set by the Institute of Medicine (47). The US recommendations state that the RDA is based on the amount needed for the maintenance of normal serum B12 levels and haematological status (i.e. the prevention of megaloblastic anaemia).

The elderly are the population who are the most susceptible to vitamin B12 deficiency (48, 49). Their susceptibility lies in their greater development of gastritis, food-bound cobalamin malabsorption and pernicious anaemia (20, 48, 50) rather than B12 restricted diets. As such, both US and Australia/New Zealand reference publication suggest that the elderly should meet the majority of their RDA/RDI by consuming; foods rich in vitamin B12, foods fortified with vitamin B12 or a vitamin B12 containing supplement (47).

One study however, suggests the need for a change in the daily requirements of vitamin B12 (51). This study concluded that a daily intake of 4-7 μ g/day is more appropriate than the current recommendations for maintaining optimal vitamin B12 and biomarker status. This is backed up by the knowledge that clinical features of deficiency can manifest in the absence of anaemia or low serum vitamin B12 levels (52, 53). The European Food Safety Authority Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies recently suggested an

adequate intake reference value of 4 μ g/day based on data from different biomarkers of status (54).

There is at this time insufficient evidence to set an upper limit of vitamin B12 intake. It is thought that this may result from the gastrointestinal tracts limited ability to absorb vitamin B12, effectively preventing excess intake. This does not account for vitamin B12 supplements given by injection of sublingual routes however, as these methods bypasses the gastrointestinal limiting factor.

2.5 Deficiency State

The most common clinical expression of vitamin B12 deficiency presents in the form of megaloblastic anaemia, which affects all blood cells (not just red-blood cells). Symptoms of megaloblastic anaemia are vast including but not limited to; fatigue, muscle weakness and nausea (20). The role of vitamin B12 in the causes of megaloblastic anaemia is complex and outside of the scope of this study, and as such will not be discussed. An expert understanding can be gained in the work of Chanarin (20).

Prolonged vitamin B12 deficiency has long been known for its role in the development of subacute combined degeneration of the spinal cord (55). This degenerative disease leads to progressive parathesis, incoordination, impaired sensation, and other neurological issues through its effect on myelin sheaths in the spinal cord (4, 56). Neurological abnormalities will respond to vitamin B12 therapy if caught early enough (4). In cases where deficiency is left untreated for an extended period, only partial response can be achieved with the possibility of complete irreversibility (4).

Currently, elevated tHcy concentrations are considered a risk factor for CVD (24, 25). The majority of research into CVD and tHcy focuses on the effect of folate with or without the

addition of vitamins B12 and B6, whereas investigations into the effects of vitamin B12 on CVD risk are limited (45).

2.6 Deficiency Causes

There are a multitude of reasons why vitamin B12 deficiency may develop in an individual. These causes have varying levels of severity and can be categorised into severe malabsorption, mild malabsorption, and dietary deficiency (57). Deficiency develops over an extended period of time due to the relatively large vitamin B12 stores in the body. Daily loses are approximately $\sim 1 \mu g/day$ (4). With a body store of around 2500 μg (4), deficiency develops over many years rather than days. Deficiency will develop more quickly in those who have both malabsorption issues and dietary deficiency.

2.6.1 Severe Malabsorption

The most common cause of severe malabsorption is due to the effects of pernicious anaemia (4, 57). This anaemia is an autoimmune gastritis caused by the destruction of gastric parietal cells (4). As parietal cells are the source of IF production, this causes a major problem in the ingestion of vitamin B12. Without the required IF, vitamin B12 can only be absorbed by passive diffusion, which accounts for approximately 1-3% (58) in a healthy individual. Similar effects are seen when there is total/partial gastrectomy, or gastric bypass/bariatric surgery (57). These procedures can result in the loss of gastric acid necessary for the cleaving of food bound vitamin B12 and like pernicious anaemia the loss of IF (59). Intestinal causes of severe malabsorption are related to disorders of the ileum. Total or partial resection of the ileum results in total or partial loss of the IF-receptor cubilin, which results in the loss or limiting of the ability to absorb the IF-vitamin B12 complex from the gastrointestinal contents (59). Imerslund-Gräsbeck is a hereditary cause of vitamin B12 malabsorption. This syndrome arises from the mutation of the gene for

cubilin or the gene for amnionless (required for the endocytosis of the IF- vitamin B12 complex) (4).

2.6.2 Mild Malabsorption

Atrophic gastritis is a condition which develops gradually over time due to the inflammation of the stomach lining (45). This extended inflammation eventually destroys cells in the stomach lining, which decreases the secretion of both gastric acid, necessary for releasing protein bound vitamin B12, and IF. Atrophic gastritis prevalence increases with age and is common in the elderly (45).

Another common cause of mild malabsorption results from the use of medications. Extended periods of metformin use are associated with low vitamin B12 levels (4), the mechanism for this is still poorly documented however. Other common medications include those used to block stomach acid secretion in the event of gastric reflux or stomach ulcer production, such as proton pump inhibitors and H₂ receptor antagonists (4, 57). These drugs result in a decreased ability to cleave food bound vitamin B12 resulting in a decrease in the amount of vitamin B12 available to bind with IF.

2.6.3 Dietary Deficiency

Dietary deficiency results from the avoidance of foods containing vitamin B12. This typically arises in vegans who eat no meat or animal products and to a lesser extent vegetarians (although this subgroup can still get vitamin B12 from animal products such as dairy products and eggs) (45). These individuals can instead meet their requirements by consuming fortified foods such as yeast or by taking supplements (45). Infant vitamin B12 deficiency can result from breast feeding in mothers who are themselves deficient, thus limiting the amount of vitamin B12 secreted in the breast milk (57).

2.6.4 Other Factors Affecting Vitamin B12 Levels

In the past, studies have shown lower concentrations of vitamin B12 in OCP users compared to non-users (60, 61). Theories for this change include a false indication of deficiency (62) and a redistribution of vitamin B12 among transporters (63).

Following an 8 week crossover intervention with red wine and vodka, Gibson et al (64) showed that a two week alcohol intervention significantly decreased serum vitamin B12 levels and increased plasma tHcy. In 2014, the World Health Organisation (WHO) global status report on alcohol and health (65) reported an alcohol intake per capita (aged 15+) consumption (in litres of pure alcohol) of 12.2 L for Australia. It also reported a breakdown of males and females per capita with females consuming 7.2 L/year or 15.6 g/day (pure alcohol). Both the per capita and female per capita results were above the global average alcohol intake of 6.2 L per year. These results highlight the increased alcohol intake in the Australian population and may prove an issue for vitamin B12 levels. Multiple studies have found an inverse relationship between BMI and vitamin B12 concentrations in children (66, 67). Of interest is determining if this relationship holds true into adult years and why such a relationship may exist.

2.7 Conclusion

Since pernicious anaemia was first cured in the early 1900's, our understanding of vitamin B12 has progressed dramatically. We now understand its role in the body and have a greater appreciation of the consequences of deficiency. While our knowledge of vitamin B12 has progressed, we are still lacking a gold standard measure of deficiency. Of the three common markers used for vitamin B12 deficiency, each has both positive and negative aspects of its use including a lack of clearly defined cut-offs of deficiency. Neurological impairment as a result of vitamin B12 deficiency is a serious consequence of a lack of understanding and one that we should endeavour to avoid at all costs. It is

because of such serious outcomes that we must continue to drive the evolution of understanding in the area of vitamin B12 through ongoing research. A greater understanding of deficiency markers and the interconnected relationships of markers is required in the search for clearly defined cut offs and the potential development of a gold standard method for diagnosing vitamin B12 deficiency.

Chapter Three: Objective statement

Currently there is no gold standard measure of vitamin B12 status. We have multiple markers of status including both direct and functional markers which have different factors affecting their reliability. There are many dietary factors as well as other factors which are associated with vitamin B12 status. This study is focused on compiling three data sets from studies completed in women from Sydney, Australia. From here we are interested in using the compiled data with aims to:

- 1. Assess the Vitamin B12 status of younger and older Australian women.
- 2. Determine the association of folate status on vitamin B12 biomarkers.
- 3. Determine the association of the OCP on vitamin B12 status.
- 4. Explore the association between total protein intake and vitamin B12 status.
- 5. Explore the association between total energy intake and vitamin B12 status.
- 6. Explore the association of alcohol on vitamin B12 status.
- 7. Assess associations of vitamin B12 biomarkers with BMI, smoking, and diet.

Chapter Four: Methods

For our secondary analysis we used data from three studies based in Sydney, Australia. The three studies have been given abbreviations owing to a particular characteristic of each, namely; elderly participants (ELD), omnivores (OMN), and randomly selected participants (RND), respectively. The methods for our study are broken into two main sections, discussing both the designs and procedures of the primary studies we have used and the statistical methods employed during the analysis of the combined data set. A full breakdown of the ELD, OMN and RND studies individual methods have been published by O'Leary et al. (68), McArthur et al. (69), and Fayet et al. (70) respectively.

4.1 Study Designs

4.1.1 Recruitment

Recruitment of participants differed between the three studies, with different methods being employed as well as a range of participants being recruited. The ELD study was completed in a 48-bed sub-acute geriatric rehabilitation unit; this was also a part of a larger study examining nutritional status and drug-interactions on vitamin B12 status. Both the OMN and RND studies recruited participants through various methods at the University of Sydney campus. Inclusions for the studies were newly admitted, English patients aged 60+ without dementia (ELD), and females aged 18-35 (OMN and RND). Exclusion criteria for the ELD study included; having a condition affecting the absorption of vitamin B6, vitamin B12 or folate, untreated hypothyroidism, active neoplasm, renal impairment, or were taking B vitamin supplements/injections. Exclusions for the OMN and ELD studies were similar to each other, with both studies excluding individuals who were pregnant/lactating, or were consuming nutritional supplements or medications (excluding the oral contraceptive pill). Differences between the two studies were exclusions in the OMN study of individuals who; were vegetarian or had a reported major illness, and in the RND study of individuals who; had a diagnosed eating disorder, were elite athletes, or were not enrolled as students. Approval for the ELD study was given by the Calvary Health Care Sydney Ethics Committee, while approval for the OMN and RND studies was given by the University of Sydney Human Ethics Committee.

4.1.2 Nutrient analysis

Dietary analysis was completed in all three studies using a food frequency questionnaire (FFQ). All three FFQs were based on the Blue Mountains Eye Study semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire. An FFQ which was validated in an elderly population using weighed diet records (71). This FFQ was not validated for use in the ELD study as it was assumed the population in which it was validated for (71) was similar enough to the target population to not require revalidation. For the FFQ to be used in the OMN and RND studies however, it needed to be validated in a similar population due to the overwhelming differences between the two study populations and the Blue Mountains Eye Study population. This was completed in a prior validation study by Fayet et al (72) and showed that the FFQ was an appropriate tool for use in a younger female population.

Dietary data analysis was completed in two ways; firstly the ELD study used FoodWorks Xyris software (2005 Professional Edition) which utilised the Australian Food and Nutrient Database (AUSNUT99). Missing nutrient data was added manually based on The British Tables of Food Composition. For both the OMN and RND studies, the average daily nutrient intake was calculated using purpose built software (Microsoft Access 2007) which was linked to the Australian Food Composition database (NUTTAB 2006) (73).

4.1.3 Blood sampling and testing

In all three studies, blood samples were collected from an antecubital vein while subjects were in a fasted state (10-12 hours). Collection of samples occurred between the hours of

0600 and 0830 for the ELD study and between 0730 and 0930 for the OMN and RND studies. Samples were collected into vacutainer tubes (Becton Dickinson, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA), which were either EDTA-coated or untreated, dependent on the analysis to be run.

In all three studies; serum vitamin B12, serum folate and erythrocyte folate were analysed using an automated system (UniCel Dxl Immunoassay System, Beckman Coulter Inc., Brea, CA). Both the ELD and RND studies used the same methods for determining tHcy and MMA. High performance liquid chromatography (Homocysteine HPLC Kit, BioRad, Munich, Germany) with fluorescence detection (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) was used to determine serum tHcy. Serum MMA was measured in both studies by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry with electrospray ionization as previously described (74, 75).

4.2 Statistical Methods

All statistical analysis was completed using Stata V14.0. Diet energy was reported in two forms between the three groups (kcal and kJ); as such the ELD group diet energy was converted from kcal to kJ using a conversion factor of 4.184. All men from the ELD group (n=11) were excluded to give continuity between the three groups and to give clearer application for any results found. Further exclusions included two individuals with multiple skewed results and a replacement of one individual's MMA result with a missing value due to being twice the next highest value. Histograms and box plots of variables (age, BMI, serum folate, erythrocyte folate, serum vitamin B12, serum tHcy, serum MMA, dietary energy, and dietary protein) for each group were plotted to assess normality, and determine any apparent skew or identify outliers within the data sets. Variables which were determined visually to be skewed were log transformed for statistical testing

purposes. Potential outliers were further investigated to determine if they were acceptable or required exclusion from the data set because of likely error.

Descriptive statistics for demographic, biochemical and some dietary intake variables were calculated for each of the groups (mean(SD) for continuous and n(%) for categorical). Oneway ANOVA with an F-test and chi-squared tests determined if continuous variables were different between the groups.

New categorical variables were created to assess the vitamin B12 status of the data set. Multiple cut-offs were utilised from two different sources (3, 5). Two methods were utilised to assess serum vitamin B12 levels, the first used a cut-off of 148 pmol/L (5). The second method used three different categories for serum vitamin B12 being; >258 pmol/L, 148-258 pmol/L, and <148 pmol/L (3). Both sources used a different tHcy cut-off, being 13 µmol/L or 15 µmol/L (3, 5). Only one source gave a cut-off for MMA which was 0.3 µmol/L (3). A final cut-off for serum folate (10 nmol/L) at which tHcy levels are optimised was also included for further analysis (76). Table 2 outlines the cut-offs used and the tables throughout the thesis that utilised each cut-off.

Mixed-effects maximum likelihood (ML) regressions with study group as a random effect were performed on folate biomarkers (serum folate and erythrocyte folate) vs vitamin B12 biomarkers (serum vitamin B12, serum tHcy and serum MMA) as well as vitamin B12 biomarkers (serum vitamin B12, serum tHcy, serum MMA) vs other variables (dietary energy, dietary protein and BMI) to test for associations; giving a coefficient, p-value and 95% CI. Tests including transformed data were back transformed to give OR, p-value and 95% CI. Fixed lines were predicted and incorporated into twoway scatter plots where appropriate.

Measure Concerned	Cut-off used	Tables used in	Reference	
	>258			
	148-258	5, 7	Carmel & Sarrai (3)	
Serum Vitamin B12	<148			
(pmol/L)	≥148	4.6	Hunt et al. (5)	
	<148	4,0	functer al. (3)	
	≤13	5	Carmel & Sarrai (3)	
tHcy	>13	5	Carner & Sarrar (S)	
(μmol/L)	≤15	467	Hunt et al. (5)	
	>15	4, 0, 7	nunt et al. (5)	
MMA	≤0.3	5 7	Carmel & Sarrai (3)	
(µmol/L)	>0.3	5,7		
Serum Folate	≥10	6	Selbub et al. (76)	
(nmol/L)	<10	0		

Table 2 Deficiency measure cut-offs and location utilised

Tabulation of participants based on their vitamin B12 deficiency status and their OCP use status was performed to determine the differences in status of users' vs non-users. Vitamin B12 deficiency status was determined using the same serum vitamin B12 cut-offs (5) published by Hunt et al. Only serum vitamin B12 was used to determine deficiency this time however, as OCP participants came from both the OMN and RND studies. Due to the lack of tHcy and MMA data in the OMN group, it was decided that using only serum vitamin B12 would provide greater clarity in the results, rather than splitting the OCP users into groups and adding extra variables where available.

Mixed-effects ML regressions with study group as a random effect were performed on vitamin B12 biomarkers (serum vitamin B12, serum tHcy, serum MMA) vs alcohol intake. Due to the skewed nature of alcohol intake, data was log transformed first.

Chapter Five: Results

A combined total of 411 participants from three previous studies were included in the final analysis of our study. Table 3 outlines descriptive characteristics as well as selected biochemical and dietary data about the participants included in our secondary analysis sorted into the three groups. Box plots of vitamin B12 markers (serum vitamin B12, tHcy and MMA) can be seen in Appendix C.

	ELD (n=43)	OMN (n=63)	RND (n=305)	P-value*
Age	80.5 (7.6)	24.5 (4.4)	22.5 (3.9)	<0.001
BMI (kg/m²)	27.3 (7.2)	21.9 (2.8)	21.5 (2.8)	<0.001
OCP use n (%)	-	21 (33)	69 (23)	0.084
Smoker n (%)	1 (2)	2 (3)	28 (9)	0.114
Serum folate	16.5 (7.5)	22.0 (9.3)	23.3 (10.3)	<0.001
(nmol/L)				
Erythrocyte	1130 (476)	853 (342)	823 (297)	<0.001
folate (nmol/L)				
Serum vitamin	263 (110)	260 (123)	223 (105)	0.008
B12 (pmol/L)				
Serum tHcy	15.0 (5.3)	-	7.2 (2.3)	<0.001
(µmol/L)				
Serum MMA	0.26 (0.13)	-	0.17 (0.08)	<0.001
(µmol/L)				
Dietary energy	8124 (1994)	12324 (5211)	9616 (3491)	<0.001
(kJ/day)				
Dietary protein	86 (21)	142 (54)	111 (46)	<0.001
(g/day)				
Alcohol	-	7.8 (11.9)	6.4 (9.5)	0.353
(g/day)				

Table 3 Descriptive characteristics of study groups

Results reported as mean ± (SD) unless stated *p-values determined using an F-test for continuous variables, chi-squared test for OCP and a Fishers exact test for smoker. ELD = Elderly, OMN = Omnivores, RND = Random.

As shown in Table 3, some of the listed variables are missing where they weren't measured in the respective study, namely serum tHcy and serum MMA (OMN group), and alcohol (ELD group). The ELD group has significantly higher (p<0.001); age, BMI and erythrocyte folate and significantly lower (p<0.001) serum folate than the other two groups. As well as this the ELD group has significantly higher (p<0.001); tHcy and MMA than the RND group.

5.1 Biomarkers

The first area of interest centres on biomarkers and the methods of determining vitamin B12 deficiency. Tables 4 and 5 represent the participants' vitamin B12 status based on two different methods of assessing deficiency. The first, a recently published review from Hunt et al. (5) recommends the use of serum vitamin B12 or tHcy levels. The second, proposed by Carmel and Sarrai (3), uses serum vitamin B12, or a combination of serum vitamin B12 with either MMA or tHcy.

Serum vitamin B12	Serum tHcy (µmol/L)	
(pmol/L)	≤15 >15	
≥148 (n)	244	20*
ELD	20	19
RND	224	1
<148 (n)	75 [*]	3*
ELD	3	2
RND	72	1

 Table 4 Vitamin B12 deficiency using criteria from Hunt et al. (5) clinical review of deficiency

*indicates possible vitamin B12 deficiency. ELD and RND groups only included

Table 4 categorises participants into one of two categories; adequate vitamin B12 status with a serum vitamin B12 \geq 148 pmol/L and a tHcy \leq 15 µmol/L, or vitamin B12 deficient with a serum vitamin B12 < 148 pmol/L and/or a tHcy > 15 µmol/L. Based on the serum vitamin B12 cut off, 78 participants (22.8%) are classed as having vitamin B12 deficiency. By combining the two criteria we are able to identify a further 20 participants (8%) in the adequate serum vitamin B12 classification with raised tHcy that would have been missed had we only used a serum vitamin B12 cut-off for defining deficiency, these individuals require further investigation for potential vitamin B12 deficiency. Table 5 categories participants into one of three categories; adequate vitamin B12 status (with a serum vitamin B12 \geq 258 pmol/L or a serum vitamin B12 of 148-258 in combination with a tHcy \leq 13 µmol/L and a MMA \leq 0.3 µmol/L), sub-clinical vitamin B12 deficiency (with a

Serum vitamin	tHcy ≤ 13 +	tHcy > 13 +	tHcy ≤ 13 +	tHcy > 13 +
B12 (pmol/L)	MMA ≤ 0.3	MMA ≤ 0.3	MMA > 0.3	MMA > 0.3
>258 (n)	89	7	5	2
ELD (n)	7	7	1	2
RND (n)	82	0	4	0
148-258 (n)	133	9*	9 ⁺	4 ⁺
ELD (n)	7	8	2	4
RND (n)	126	1	7	0
<148 (n)	62 [*]	5*	9*	1*
ELD (n)	1	3	0	1
RND (n)	61	5	9	0

 Table 5: Vitamin B12 deficiency/sub-clinical deficiency using Carmel & Sarrai composite criteria (3)

tHcy and MMA both measured in μ mol/L. *indicates vitamin B12 deficiency, †indicates sub-clinical vitamin B12 deficiency. ELD and RND groups only included.

serum vitamin B12 of 148-258 pmol/L in combination with a tHcy > 13 μ mol/L and/or a MMA > 0.3 μ mol/L), or vitamin B12 deficiency (with a serum vitamin B12 < 148

pmol/L). Table 5 classes 77 participants (22.9%) with deficiency. Similarly to table 4, by combining cut-off measures we are able to further identify individuals with adequate serum vitamin B12 levels that may have vitamin B12 deficiency based on metabolite levels and require further investigation. By using a MMA and tHcy cut-off in combination with a moderate serum vitamin B12 level (148-258 pmol/L) we are able to identify 22 individuals (14% of the moderate serum vitamin B12 level group) with sub-clinical deficiency. In total this cut-off criteria gives a total of 99 individuals (29.5%) with concerning vitamin B12 status.

Table 6 reports the percentage of individuals with vitamin B12 deficiency based on either serum vitamin B12 levels or tHcy levels. Based on these two measures, 55% of the ELD group and 25% of the RND group have potential vitamin B12 deficiency. When we exclude individuals whom have folate deficiency based on a low serum folate without a low serum vitamin B12 level these numbers drop to 39% and 24% respectively.

Table 7 shows the percentage of individuals with optimal MMA and/or tHcy levels stratified by serum vitamin B12 levels. From this table we can see that of the individuals with a low serum vitamin B12, 83% have optimal MMA and tHcy levels. This is consistent with both the optimal and moderate serum vitamin B12 groups, which have 88% and 86% of individuals respectively with optimal MMA and tHcy levels. A Pearson χ^2 test showed that there were no significant differences between the three groups (p=0.316). When OCP users are excluded from this analysis a Pearson χ^2 again shows that there were no significant differences between the three groups (p=0.214).

Figure 3 shows the combined graphs of both, serum and erythrocyte folates vs serum vitamin B12, serum tHcy and serum MMA. All serum vitamin B12 and serum tHcy results vs serum folate and erythrocyte folate

	low serum vitamin B12 ¹	high tHcy ²	low serum vitamin B12 ¹ and/or high tHcy ²	high tHcy ² with normal serum folate status ³	low serum vitamin B12 ¹ and/or high tHcy ² with normal serum folate status ³
ELD % (n)	11 (5)	48 (21)	55 (24)	30 (13)	39 (17)
RND % (n)	24 (73)	0 (2)	25 (74)	0 (1)	24 (73)
Total % (n)	23 (78)	7 (23)	29 (98)	4 (14)	26 (90)

Table 6 Vitamin B12 deficiency based on serum vitamin B12 and serum tHcy with accounts for serum folate status

⁻¹serum vitamin B12 < 148 pmol/L ²serum tHcy > 15 μ mol/L ³serum folate \geq 10 nmol/L

Table 7 Concordance between MMA levels and tHcy levels stratified by serum vitamin B12 status

	Optimal Serum Vitamin B12 ¹	Moderate Serum Vitamin B12 ²	Low Serum Vitamin B12 ³
Optimal MMA ⁴ & tHcy ⁵ % (n)	88 (91)	86 (134)	83 (64)
Optimal MMA ⁴ and high tHcy ⁵ % (n)	5 (5)	5 (8)	4 (3)
Optimal tHcy ⁵ and high MMA ⁴ $\frac{9}{6}$ (n)	5 (5)	6 (9)	13 (10)
High MMA ⁴ and high tHcy ⁵	2 (2)	3 (4)	0 (0)

¹serum vitamin B12 > 258 pmol/L ²serum vitamin B12 148-258 pmol/l ³serum vitamin B12 < 148 pmol/L ⁴optimal serum MMA \leq 0.3 µmol/L, high serum MMA > 0.3 µmol/L ⁵optimal serum tHcy \leq 15 µmol/L, high tHcy > 15 µmol/L. P-value = 0.316



Figure 3 Linear relationships between serum folate and erythrocyte folate with serum vitamin B12, serum tHcy and serum MMA



were shown to be statistically significant. Serum MMA was not significantly associated with either serum folate (p=0.489) or erythrocyte folate (p=0.423).

Serum vitamin B12 (pmol/L) was positively associated with both serum folate (nmol/L) (β =0.018 95% CI: 0.009, 0.026, p<0.001) and erythrocyte folate (nmol/L) (β =0.456 95% CI: 0.164, 0.747, p=0.002). Serum tHcy (µmol/L) however was negatively associated with both serum folate (nmol/L) (β =-0.983 95% CI: -1.246, -0.720, p<0.001) and erythrocyte folate (nmol/L) (β =-38.428 95% CI:-49.929, -26.927, p<0.001)

5.2 Oral Contraceptive Pill Use

The next area of interest we focused on was that of OCP user and the associations that may exist with vitamin B12 levels. Table 8 categories participants as having an adequate vitamin B12 status or as being vitamin B12 deficient (using a serum vitamin B12 cut-off of 148 pmol/L (5)). The table shows that 37 (42%) of the OCP users are classed as deficient based on serum vitamin B12 concentrations compared to 44 (16%) non-users of the OCP. Figure 4 displays the boxplots of serum vitamin B12 concentrations (pmol/L) separated by OCP user status; this clearly shows a lower median serum vitamin B12 concentration in OCP users vs non-users. OCP use is associated with a mean decrease in serum vitamin B12 concentration of 72.3 pmol/L (95% CI: -93.9,-44.5, p<0.001). Neither tHcy (p=0.669) or MMA (p=0.595) was affected by OCP use.

5.3 Lifestyle factors

The next area of interest focuses on lifestyle factors that may be associated to vitamin B12 status including; dietary factors and BMI. Table 9 highlights the associations between markers of vitamin B12 status and total protein intake, total energy intake and BMI. From the table we can see that total energy does not have any statistically significant associations with any of the three markers of status. Total protein however, has a positive

association with serum vitamin B12 (p=0.001). BMI also has a negative association with serum vitamin B12 which is not statistically significant (p=0.051).

Serum vitamin B12 was also significantly negatively associated with alcohol intake (p<0.001), where for a 10% higher alcohol intake, this was related to a lower serum vitamin B12 by 1.9 pmol/L. Alcohol intake was not associated with serum tHcy but a 10% higher consumption of alcohol was associated with a 0.6% increase in serum MMA (p=0.005).

 Table 8 Serum vitamin B12 deficiency stratified by oral contraceptive use

Serum vitamin B12	OCP user	
(pmol/L)	Νο	Yes
≥148	224 (84)	52 (58)
<148	44 (16)	37 (42)

Reported as n (%), only OMN and RND groups included



Figure 4 Box plot of serum vitamin B12 concentration sorted by oral contraceptive pill user status

Table 9 Associations between serum vitamin B12, serum tHcy, and serum MMA with energy and protein intakes and BMI

	Serum vitamin B12 ⁺		Serum tHcy ^x *		Serum MMA ^x *	
	Regression coefficient (95% CI)	p-value	OR (95% CI)	p-value	OR (95% CI)	p-value
Energy (MJ)	2.282 (-0.591, 5.155)	0.120	0.992 (0.981, 1.004)	0.191	0.987 (0.974, 1.000)	0.055
Protein (10g)	3.844 (1.533, 6.154)	0.001	0.992 (0.983, 1.000)	0.063	0.990 (0.980, 1.001)	0.053
BMI (kg/m²)	-2.864 (-5.743, 0.016)	0.051	1.002 (.992, 1.011)	0.710	1.004 (0.992, 1.016)	0.494

[†]Measured in ELD, OMN, and RND groups. ^xMeasured in ELD, RND groups *Skewed data which has been log transformed. Results are the reverse transformed OR and 95% CI.

Chapter Six: Discussion

Our results showed that an association between different serum vitamin B12 strata and raised metabolites was not present. Use of the OCP was associated with a decrease in serum vitamin B12 levels; a decrease was also seen with increased alcohol consumption. Folate was shown to have a positive association with serum vitamin B12 levels.

Our results highlighted the difficulty associated with classifying people as deficient. Of the two methods we employed (3, 5) in our analysis to determine the number of individuals with deficient vitamin B12 levels, we came across differences. While the number of individuals with potentially problematic vitamin B12 status was similar, Carmel and Sarrai's method distinguished between those with vitamin B12 deficiency and those with sub-clinical deficiency using measures of serum vitamin B12, tHcy and MMA in the diagnostic phase (3). Hunt et al. however, only looked at deficiency, and used only serum vitamin B12 and tHcy as measures of deficiency (5).

These methods were taken a step further by combining Carmel and Sarrai's three cut-offs of serum vitamin B12 with the tHcy cut-off of Hunt. We developed this method further by adding folate status as a further stratification. In the ELD group, who had significantly lower serum folate levels than the larger RND group, the addition of folate changed the outcome of the diagnosis of deficiency drastically. By excluding individuals with moderate to high serum vitamin B12 levels with low tHcy levels in combination with low serum folate levels, the percentage of individuals in the ELD group with potential vitamin B12 deficiency dropped from 55% to 39%.

Folate levels and renal status have been shown to be a bigger influence on tHcy levels than vitamin B12 (4, 26). Folate deficiency is also known to be associated with chronic alcohol intake due to interference with folate absorption (77). A folate deficient diet is also

common in those who abuse alcohol. Folate deficiency is also seen in the elderly due to intestinal malabsorption (78). In populations with relatively good folate, tHcy may serve as a viable option as a metabolic marker of vitamin B12 deficiency, but as this cannot be guaranteed, it calls into question the usefulness of tHcy as a primary marker of deficiency like that of the methods outlined by Hunt et al. Of interest is the lack of an MMA diagnostic cut-off inclusion in the Hunt et al. clinical review (5). It is often concluded that MMA is more superior to tHcy in relation to vitamin B12 deficiency diagnosis despite having its own challenges (26).

Further to the questions raised about tHcy as a biomarker, our results call into question the usefulness of serum vitamin B12 as a biomarker of deficiency. For some time now, serum vitamin B12 has been queried about its usefulness as a primary measure of vitamin B12 status. Our results showed that regardless of vitamin B12 stratification (optimal, moderate or low levels), the percentage of individuals with both optimal MMA and tHcy levels remained the same (88%, 86% and 83% respectively). We would expect that as serum vitamin B12 levels decrease from optimal to moderate and then again to low that there would be a decrease in the percentage of individuals with optimal MMA and tHcy levels. This does not however happen in our population, suggesting that of the individuals with low serum vitamin B12 levels, the majority do not have any metabolic issues present. Further raising the question, should serum vitamin B12 be considered the primary marker of deficiency.

Holo-transcobalamin II has been touted as a potential measure of vitamin B12 status. This transporter promotes cellular uptake of vitamin B12 and approximately 20 to 30% of plasma vitamin B12 is attached to this transporter at any given time (4). By measuring holo-TC II in comparison to serum vitamin B12 we are able to determine the amount of vitamin B12 which is biologically available for cellular uptake. Assays for holo-TC II are

now accurate, while a fully automated method has been available for some time (33). This measure has also been shown to be advantageous over serum vitamin B12 (16, 21).

Oral contraceptive pill use was significantly associated with a decrease in mean serum vitamin B12 concentration of 72.3 pmol/L in individuals who took part in the OMN and RND studies. However, there were no metabolite (tHcy or MMA) increases associated with OCP use. The implications of said decrease could be potentially great if it were to be a true deficiency. Oral contraceptives are a relatively common medication in young women nowadays, and a 72.3 pmol/L decrease in serum vitamin B12 levels could have major consequences. Past studies have found similar results showing that the OCP decreases serum vitamin B12 concentrations significantly (60, 61, 79, 80). One recent study (81) also observed a 45.3 pmol/L reduction in serum vitamin B12 concentrations (p=0.036) in oral contraceptive pill users.

There is evidence to suggest that the change in serum vitamin B12 in OCP users is due to a redistribution of the vitamin among transporters (62, 63). Shojania and Wylie (63) showed that absorption and urinary excretion of vitamin B12 remains normal in individuals using the OCP. Their findings also showed that OCP use was significantly associated with a lower total vitamin B12 binding capacity of serum and a decrease in transcobalamin I (haptocorrin) levels (63), which could explain the decrease in serum vitamin B12 levels. Shojania and Wylie suggest a decrease in transcobalamin I levels and an increase in transcobalamin III levels as the mechanism responsible for decreased serum vitamin B12 levels (63). Gardyn et al. (82) also showed that in women using the OCP with low vitamin B12 levels, 60% had decreased transcobalamin I blood levels. In this group, deficiency was shown to be false based on normal urinary MMA and plasma tHcy levels. Furthermore, serum vitamin B12 levels returned to normal following OCP cessation for one month (82). Many studies hypothesise that the change in serum vitamin B12 is

harmless and point to biomarker (tHcy & MMA) evidence to show that this decrease has not caused a change in the metabolic processes associated with vitamin B12 with one study also showing that the decreased vitamin B12 levels did not affect bone mineral density as would be expected (80).

Ultimately, our study confirms that an association between OCP use and lower serum vitamin B12 levels does exist, but that this is not an indicator of a true deficiency based on metabolite markers of vitamin B12 status. This does not however mean we can rest easy, it is important that we acknowledge that pernicious anaemia is still a possibility in women of reproductive age, and as such, a low serum vitamin B12 level in women using the OCP should not be discounted based on the use of this medication. Of interest would be the furthered research of OCP users looking into the relatively new marker of vitamin B12 status, holo-TC II.

Interestingly, serum and erythrocyte folate levels were both related to serum vitamin B12 levels. This is an unexpected discovery as while vitamins B12 and folate have interrelated pathways in the body, they are by no means related in the diet. As previously stated, vitamin B12 originates from animal products, while the main dietary sources of folate include; green leafy vegetables, legumes, some fruits, as well as fortified cereals and cereal products (83). As expected an inverse relationship between both serum and erythrocyte folate and tHcy levels was present, due to folates role in the methionine synthase metabolic process. While folate and vitamin B12 are not related in terms of where they come from in the diet, they have been linked in previous studies. Bailey et al (37) showed that in the NHANES data set, serum folate and erythrocyte folate concentrations increased with increasing vitamin B12 status. Two studies have showed that when individuals were vitamin B12 deficient, higher serum folate levels were associated with increasing tHcy and MMA concentrations (84, 85), suggesting a potential worsening of enzymatic function as

folate levels increased. Another study combining data from three cohorts has shown that in elderly individuals with low vitamin B12 status, increased folate levels are associated with impaired cognition (86). These findings raise questions about food fortification with folate, and beg the question of whether fortification may result in an associated rise in serum vitamin B12; or for those with established vitamin B12 deficiency, will be detrimental for metabolite levels.

Alcohol intake was found to be negatively associated with serum vitamin B12 concentrations, where a 10% increase in alcohol consumption was associated with a decrease in serum vitamin B12 concentration of 1.9 pmol/L (p<0.001). This is a concerning result given the population in which our participants have come from. Alcohol intakes were measured only in the OMN and RND group. As previously stated, Australian females drink in excess of the global average alcohol intake of 6.2 L of pure alcohol per year. The report also stated an average per day intake of 15.6 g/day in Australian females. With the OMN and RND studies having relatively low average daily intakes of 7.8 g/day and 6.4 g/day respectively, this suggests that the possible ramification of alcohol intake on vitamin B12 levels in Australian women could be far greater than seen in our study. The relationship between alcohol and vitamin B12 status has previously been explored with multiple studies showing a negative association between alcohol intake and vitamin B12 status (64, 87) with both Gibson et al. and Laufer et al. showing a decrease in serum vitamin B12 and an increase in tHcy. A mechanistic explanation for the relationships have yet to be identified, although it has been postulated that increasing alcohol consumption is related with decrease in dietary adequacy of B vitamins.

A positive association between protein intake and serum vitamin B12 was shown in our study, with a 10g increase in dietary protein intake being associated with a 3.8 pmol/L increase in serum vitamin B12 concentration. Restriction of animal food group intakes is a

known determinant of low vitamin B12 intake (70, 88) due to vitamin B12 being located primarily in animal products. There appears to be little/no evidence on overall protein intakes association with serum vitamin B12. An association between animal protein and vitamin B12 status would be expected as we know dietary vitamin B12 is introduced to the body bound to animal protein, a factor which is important in individuals who follow a vegan (and to a lesser extent vegetarian) diet pattern (88).

6.1 Strengths and Limitations

The strength of our study lies in the inclusion of three data sets. This has given us a large sample size and increases the power with which we have to draw conclusions from results we have found. By combining the three data sets we have included a range of ages and broadened the characteristics of our sample population.

Between our three data sets there are differences in our groups that make the combination of the data a limitation. We have to be aware that these intragroup differences are present when making conclusions about our results. Further limitations lay within the study designs themselves. It was assumed that the Australian Blue Mountains eye study FFQ was appropriate for the elderly group without validation in the population. This FFQ was originally validated for a healthy population, whereas the population used in the ELD study were sourced from hospital admissions. The difference in measures used between the studies has also proved a limitation. As the studies were completed independently, measures across all three do not align; this has resulted in some tests omitting sections of the data set due to a lack of data. The main limitation of this lay in the lack of tHcy and MMA data in the OMN study. Total protein was also not separated into animal protein and plant protein which would give better understanding of vitamin B12 in terms of total

animal protein in comparison to plant based protein intakes. Our sample is also a convenience sample and this may be a limitation.

6.2 Conclusion

Our study has highlighted issues surrounding serum vitamin B12 and its ability to identify those with deficiency. We know that serum vitamin B12 is a fairly poor measure of the ability to deliver vitamin B12 to tissues within the body. Serum vitamin B12 measures both holo-TC II and the r-binders within blood. Holohaptocorin (r-binder) is relatively biologically unavailable to tissues compared to holo-TC II and can mask true deficiency when looking at serum vitamin B12 levels. We have seen multiple instances throughout our study were serum vitamin B12 has proved inadequate; namely when the OCP is involved. Furthermore, we have seen that there are no differences in metabolite levels (tHcy and MMA), regardless of serum vitamin B12 status.

The diagnosis of vitamin B12 deficiency is an area inundated with discrepancy. Without an ideal diagnostic test we will continue to struggle to identify those individuals with vitamin B12 deficiency. It is my opinion that the future of vitamin B12 and a potential gold standard criteria does not lie in the continued utilisation of serum vitamin B12. In previous decades it has become far easier to measure levels of holo-TC II in the blood. This measure has the potential to give us a greater insight into the body's ability to meet metabolic process requirements of vitamin B12, rather than measuring total vitamin B12 which includes both the metabolically available/unavailable sections of this vitamin.

In order to consider holo-TC II as a future primary measure of vitamin B12 status, this should be our main area of concern for future research. We must investigate the grey areas that currently cloud this measure and determine the factors which may affect its levels

within the blood such as OCPs. Only by furthering our understanding of holo-TC II can we hope to utilise its full potential.

By furthering our ability to identify vitamin B12 deficiency, we give ourselves the greatest possibility of preventing the potential issues of deficiency. As well as this, it is important that in the age of folate fortification we mitigate the effects of high folate intakes that have been shown in this discussion.

Chapter Seven: Application of research to dietetic practice

From this study we can see that serum vitamin B12 is less than ideal as a primary marker of vitamin B12 status. Until the issues with serum vitamin B12 are rectified or a new marker of status becomes the norm, it is important that we examine serum vitamin B12 results further before deciding that they are correct. Our study has shown that serum vitamin B12 may give either a false positive or a false negative when it comes to diagnosing vitamin B12 deficiency. As such, it is important to analyse each patient with a fresh outlook; using all the available information to determine if the serum vitamin B12 levels fit with the assessment of the patient. Without clinical symptoms of deficiency it is important to look at metabolite levels to get a better picture of what is going on within the body. It is also important to consider other factors that may be influencing metabolite levels such as folate or renal status.

As well as this, it is important to recognise that individuals using oral contraceptive pills may be falsely diagnosed as vitamin B12 deficient. This however does not mitigate the fact that women of reproductive age using OCPs are still at risk of inadequate vitamin B12 intakes or malabsorption issues such as pernicious anaemia. As such, it is important that we do not dismiss all OCP users with low serum vitamin B12 levels. We must be sure that the decrease in serum vitamin B12 is caused by the OCP as opposed to a true deficiency.

Another area of concern is in individuals who drink excessive amounts of alcohol. While these individuals are putting themselves in danger of a number of health consequences, it is important to remember the potential result this pattern of alcohol consumption may have on their vitamin B12 status.

This research adds to the growing evidence that we may be off track with diagnosing vitamin B12 deficiency, this research suggests that it is time we look into other avenues of

diagnosing deficiency. Holo-transcobalamin II is the likely successor to the primary diagnostic stage of vitamin B12 deficiency. Before this can happen however, we must endeavour to further our understanding of this biomarker of status. We are still unable to utilise holo-TC II to the fullest of its potential as we are still lacking in understanding of the factors which affect it. As such, we must continue research in this area if we are to have a hope of finding a better alternative to serum vitamin B12 as the primary marker of vitamin B12 status.

References

1. Minot GR, Murphy WP. Treatment of pernicious anemia by a special diet. Journal of the American Medical Association. 1926;87(7):470-6.

2. Hodgkin DC, Kamper J, Mackay M, Pickworth J, Trueblood KN, White JG. Structure of vitamin B12. Nature. 1956;178(4524):64.

3. Carmel R, Sarrai M. Diagnosis and management of clinical and subclinical cobalamin deficiency: advances and controversies. Current Hematology Reports. 2006;5(1):23-33.

4. Carmel R. Cobalamin (Vitamin B12). In: Ross AC, Caballero B, Cousins RJ, Tucker KL, Ziegler TR, editors. Modern nutrition in health and disease. 11th ed. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2012. p. 369-89.

5. Hunt A, Harrington D, Robinson S. Vitamin B12 deficiency. BMJ. 2014;349:g5226.

6. Castle WB. The Conquest of Pernicious Anemia. In: Wintrobe MM, editor. Blood, pure and eloquent : a story of discovery, of people, and of ideas. New York: McGraw-Hill; 1980. p. 283-317.

7. Cabot RC. Pernicious and secondary anaemia, chlorosis and leukemia. In: Osler W, McCrae T, editors. Modern Medicine: Its Theory and Practice. 4. Philadelphia: Lea and Febiger; 1908. p. 612-8.

8. Rickes EL, Brink NG, Koniuszy FR, Wood TR, Folkers K. Crystalline Vitamin B12. Science. 1948;107(2781):396-7.

9. Smith EL, Parker LF. Purification of anti-pernicious anaemia factor. The Biochemical Journal. 1948;43(1):viii.

10. Shane B. Folic Acid, Vitamin B12, and Vitamin B6. In: Stipanuk M, editor. Biochemical, Physiological, & Molecular Aspects of Human Nutrition. 2nd ed. St. Louis, Mo: Elsevier/Saunders; 2006.

11. Del Corral A, Carmel R. Transfer of cobalamin from the cobalamin-binding protein of egg yolk to R binder of human saliva and gastric juice. Gastroenterology. 1990;98(6):1460-6.

12. Gibson RS. Principles of nutritional assessment. 2nd ed. New York: Oxford University Press; 2005.

13. Allen RH, Seetharam B, Podell E, Alpers DH. Effect of proteolytic enzymes on the binding of cobalamin to r protein and intrinsic factor: In vitro evidence that a failure to partially degrader protein is responsible for cobalamin malabsorption in pancreatic insufficiency. The Journal of Clinical Investigation. 1978;61(1):47-54.

14. Moestrup SK, Verroust PJ. Megalin- and cubilin-mediated endocytosis of protein-bound vitamins, lipids, and hormones in polarized epithelia. Annual Review of Nutrition. 2001;21(1):407-28.

15. Quadros EV, Regec AL, Khan KMF, Quadros E, Rothenberg SP. Transcobalamin II synthesized in the intestinal villi facilitates transfer of cobalamin to the portal blood. 1999. G161-G6.

16. Valente E, Scott JM, Ueland P-M, Cunningham C, Casey M, Molloy AM. Diagnostic accuracy of holotranscobalamin, methylmalonic acid, serum cobalamin, and other indicators of tissue vitamin B₁₂ status in the elderly.(Endocrinology and Metabolism). Clinical Chemistry. 2011;57(6):856.

17. Carmel R, Brar S, Agrawal A, Penha PD. Failure of Assay to Identify Low Cobalamin Concentrations. Clinical Chemistry. 2000;46(12):2017-8.

18. Vlasveld LT, van't Wout JW, Meeuwissen P, Castel A. High Measured Cobalamin (Vitamin B12) Concentration Attributable to an Analytical Problem in Testing Serum from a Patient with Pernicious Anemia. Clinical Chemistry. 2006;52(1):157-8.

19. Hamilton MS, Blackmore S, Lee A. Possible cause of false normal B-12 assays. BMJ. 2006;333(7569):654-5.

20. Chanarin I. The megaloblastic anaemias. 3rd ed. Oxford, Boston: Blackwell Scientific Publications; Chicago, Ill. : Distributors, USA, Year Book Medical Publishers; 1990.

21. Carmel R. Biomarkers of cobalamin (vitamin B-12) status in the epidemiologic setting: a critical overview of context, applications, and performance characteristics of cobalamin, methylmalonic acid, and holotranscobalamin II. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2011;94(1):348S-58S.

22. Stabler SP, Marcell PD, Podell ER, Allen RH, Lindenbaum J. Assay of methylmalonic acid in the serum of patients with cobalamin deficiency using capillary gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. The Journal of Clinical Investigation. 1986;77(5):1606.

23. Lindenbaum J, Savage DG, Stabler SP, Allen RH. Diagnosis of cobalamin deficiency: II. Relative sensitivities of serum cobalamin, methylmalonic acid, and total homocysteine concentrations. American Journal of Hematology. 1990;34(2):99-107.

24. Bailey LB, Stover PJ, McNulty H, Fenech MF, Gregory JF, Mills JL, et al. Biomarkers of Nutrition for Development—Folate Review. The Journal of Nutrition. 2015:1636S-80S.

25. Clarke R, Bennett DA, Parish S, Verhoef P, Dötsch-Klerk M, Lathrop M, et al. Homocysteine and coronary heart disease: meta-analysis of MTHFR case-control studies, avoiding publication bias. PLoS Medicine. 2012;9(2):205.

26. Refsum H, Smith AD, Ueland PM, Nexo E, Clarke R, McPartlin J, et al. Facts and Recommendations about Total Homocysteine Determinations: An Expert Opinion. Clinical Chemistry. 2004;50(1):3-32.

27. Remacha A, Sardà M, Canals C, Queraltò J, Zapico E, Remacha J, et al. Role of serum holotranscobalamin (holoTC) in the diagnosis of patients with low serum cobalamin. Comparison with methylmalonic acid and homocysteine. Annals of Hematology. 2014;93(4):565-9.

28. Carmel R. Cobalamin-binding proteins in man. In: Silber R, Gordon AS, LoBue J, al. e, editors. Contemporary Hematology-Oncology. 2. New York: Plenum; 1981. p. 79-129.

29. Carmel R. Diagnosis and management of clinical and subclinical cobalamin deficiencies: Why controversies persist in the age of sensitive metabolic testing. Biochimie. 2013;95(5):1047-55.

30. Lindemans J, Schoester M, van Kapel J. Application of a simple immunoadsorption assay for the measurement of saturated and unsaturated transcobalamin II and R-binders. Clinica Chimica Acta. 1983;132(1):53-61.

31. Ulleland M, Eilertsen I, Quadros EV, Rothenberg SP, Fedosov SN, Sundrehagen E, et al. Direct assay for cobalamin bound to transcobalamin (holo-transcobalamin) in serum. Clinical chemistry. 2002;48(3):526.

32. Nexo E, Christensen A-L, Hvas A-M, Petersen TE, Fedosov SN. Quantification of holotranscobalamin, a marker of vitamin B12 deficiency. Clinical Chemistry. 2002;48(3):561.

33. Brady J, Wilson L, McGregor L, Valente E, Orning L. Active B12: a rapid, automated assay for holotranscobalamin on the Abbott AxSYM analyzer. Clinical Chemistry. 2008;54(3):567.

34. Morkbak AL, Heimdal RM, Emmens K, Molloy A, Hvas A-M, Schneede J, et al. Evaluation of the technical performance of novel holotranscobalamin (holoTC) assays in a multicenter European demonstration project. Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine. 2005;43(10):1058-64.

35. Carmel R. Measuring and interpreting holo-transcobalamin (holo-transcobalamin II).(Editorial). Clinical Chemistry. 2002;48(3):407.

36. Chen X, Remacha AF, Sarda MP, Carmel R. Influence of cobalamin deficiency compared with that of cobalamin absorption on serum holo-transcobalamin II. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2005;81(1):110.

37. Bailey RL, Carmel R, Green R, Pfeiffer CM, Cogswell ME, Osterloh JD, et al. Monitoring of vitamin B-12 nutritional status in the United States by using plasma methylmalonic acid and serum vitamin B-12. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2011;94(2):552-61.

38. Martens JH, Barg H, Warren MJ, Jahn D. Microbial production of vitamin B12. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology. 2002;58(3):275-85.

39. Watanabe F. Vitamin B12 sources and bioavailability. Experimental Biology and Medicine (Maywood, NJ). 2007;232(10):1266-74.

40. Stabler SP, Allen RH. Vitamin B12 deficiency as a worldwide problem. Annual Review of Nutrition. 2004;24:299-326.

41. Heyssel RM, Bozian RC, Darby WJ, Bell MC. Vitamin B12 turnover in man. The assimilation of vitamin B12 from natural foodstuff by man and estimates of minimal daily dietary requirements. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 1966;18(3):176-84.

42. Doscherholmen A, McMahon J, Ripley D. Vitamin B12 assimilation from chicken meat. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 1978;31(5):825.

43. Doscherholmen A, McMahon J, Economon P. Vitamin B12 Absorption from Fish. Experimental Biology and Medicine. 1981;167(4):480-4.

44. Doscherholmen A, McMahon J, Ripley D. Vitamin B12 Absorption from Eggs. Experimental Biology and Medicine. 1975;149(4):987-90.

45. O'Leary F, Samman S. Vitamin B12 in Health and Disease. Nutrients. 2010;2(3):299.

46. Council. NHaMR. Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand. . In: Aging. DoHa, editor. Canberra, Australia: Australian Government; 2005. p. 91-6.

47. Medicine FaNBIO. Dietary reference intakes for thiamin, riboflavin, niacin, vitamin B_6 , folate, vitamin B_{12} , pantothenic acid, biotin, and choline. In: Institute of Medicine . Standing Committee on the Scientific Evaluation of Dietary Reference I, Institute of Medicine . Panel on Folate OBV, Choline, Institute of Medicine . Subcommittee on Upper Reference Levels of N, editors. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press; 2000.

48. Carmel R. Cobalamin, the stomach, and aging. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 1997;66(4):750-9.

49. Nilsson-Ehle H. Age-Related Changes in Cobalamin (Vitamin B) Handling: Implications for Therapy. Drugs & Aging. 1998;12(4):277-92.

50. Carmel R. Malabsorption of food cobalamin. Baillière's Clinical Haematology. 1995;8(3):639-55.

51. Bor MV, von Castel-Roberts KM, Kauwell GP, Stabler SP, Allen RH, Maneval DR, et al. Daily intake of 4 to 7 μg dietary vitamin B-12 is associated with steady concentrations of vitamin B-12–related biomarkers in a healthy young population. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2010;91(3):571-7.

52. Devalia V, Hamilton MS, Molloy AM. Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of cobalamin and folate disorders. British Journal of Haematology. 2014;166(4):496-513.

53. Quadros EV. Advances in the understanding of cobalamin assimilation and metabolism. Oxford, UK2010. p. 195-204.

54. EFSA NDA Panel. Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for Cobalamin (vitamin B12). EFSA Journal 2015. 64 pp.

55. Moore E, Mander A, Ames D, Carne R, Sanders K, Watters D. Cognitive impairment and vitamin B12: a review. International Psychogeriatrics. 2012;24(04):541-56.

56. Lanska DJ. Historical aspects of the major neurological vitamin deficiency disorders: the water-soluble B vitamins. In: Finger S, Boller Fo, Tyler KL, editors. History of neurology. Handbook of Clinical Neurology. Edinburgh, New York: Elsevier; 2010. p. 445-76.

57. Stabler SP. Vitamin B12 Deficiency. New England Journal of Medicine. 2013;368(2):149-60.

58. FAO. Human Vitamin and Mineral Requirments: Vitamin B12. 2001.

59. Escott-Stump S. Nutrition and diagnosis-related care. 7th ed. Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2012.

60. McArthur JO, Tang H, Petocz P, Samman S. Biological variability and impact of oral contraceptives on vitamins B6, B12 and folate status in women of reproductive age. Nutrients. 2013;5(9):3634-45.

61. Lussana F, Zighetti ML, Bucciarelli P, Cugno M, Cattaneo M. Blood levels of homocysteine, folate, vitamin B6 and B12 in women using oral contraceptives compared to non-users. Thrombosis Research. 2003;112(1):37-41.

62. Wilson SM, Bivins BN, Russell KA, Bailey LB. Oral contraceptive use: impact on folate, vitamin B6, and vitamin B12 status. 2011. 572-83 p.

63. Shojania AM, Wylie B. The effect of oral contraceptives on vitamin B12 metabolism. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 1979;135(1):129-34.

64. Gibson A, Woodside JV, Young IS, Sharpe PC, Mercer C, Patterson CC, et al. Alcohol increases homocysteine and reduces B vitamin concentration in healthy male volunteers—a randomized, crossover intervention study. QJM. 2008;101(11):881-7.

World Health Organization. Global status report on alcohol and health 2014. 2014.
Gunanti IR, Marks GC, Al-Mamun A, Long KZ. Low Serum Vitamin B-12 and Folate
Concentrations and Low Thiamin and Riboflavin Intakes Are Inversely Associated with Greater
Adiposity in Mexican American Children. The Journal of Nutrition. 2014;144(12):2027-33.

67. Pinhas-Hamiel O, Doron-Panush N, Reichman B, Nitzan-Kaluski D, Shalitin S, Geva-Lerner L. Obese children and adolescents: a risk group for low vitamin B12 concentration. Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine. 2006;160(9):933-6.

68. O'Leary F, Flood VM, Petocz P, Allman-Farinelli M, Samman S. B vitamin status, dietary intake and length of stay in a sample of elderly rehabilitation patients. The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging. 2011;15(6):485-9.

69. McArthur JO, Petocz P, Caterson ID, Samman S. A Randomized Controlled Trial in Young Women of the Effects of Consuming Pork Meat or Iron Supplements on Nutritional Status and Feeling of Well-being. Journal of the American College of Nutrition. 2012;31(3):175-84.

70. Fayet F, Flood V, Petocz P, Samman S. Avoidance of meat and poultry decreases intakes of omega-3 fatty acids, vitamin B12, selenium and zinc in young women. Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics. 2014;27:135-42.

71. Smith W, Mitchell P, Reay EM, Webb K, Harvey PWJ. Validity and reproducibility of a selfadministered food frequency questionnaire in older people. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health. 1998;22(4):456-63.

72. Fayet F, Flood V, Petocz P, Samman S. Relative and biomarker-based validity of a food frequency questionnaire that measures the intakes of vitamin B(12), folate, iron, and zinc in young women. Nutrition Research (New York, NY). 2011;31(1):14-20.

73. NUTTAB 2006. Database of the Nutritional Composition of Australian Foods. [Internet]. Food Standards Australia New Zealand. 2007. Available from:

http://www.foodstandards.gov.au/monitoringandsurveillance/nuttab2006/onlineversionintroduc tion/index.cfm.

74. Magera MJ, Helgeson JK, Matern D, Rinaldo P. Methylmalonic acid measured in plasma and urine by stable-isotope dilution and electrospray tandem mass spectrometry. Clinical Chemistry. 2000;46(11):1804-10.

75. Green AK. Biochemical Markers of Cobalamin Deficiency in Patients With Inborn Errors of Metabolism Managed on Low Protein Diets [Master's Thesis]. Sydney: University of Sydney; 2006.

76. Selhub J, Jacques PF, Dallal G, Choumenkovitch S, Rogers G. The use of blood concentrations of vitamins and their respective functional indicators to define folate and vitamin B12 status. Food and Nutrition Bulletin. 2008;29(2 Suppl):S67-73.

77. Bailey LB, Caudill MA. Folate. 2012. In: Present Knowledge in Nutrition [Internet]. Somerset: Wiley. 10. Available from:

http://otago.eblib.com.au/patron/FullRecord.aspx?p=947699.

78. Araújo JR, Martel F, Borges N, Araújo JM, Keating E. Folates and aging: Role in mild cognitive impairment, dementia and depression. Ageing Research Reviews. 2015;22:9-19.

79. Sütterlin MW, Bussen SS, Rieger L, Dietl J, Steck T. Serum folate and Vitamin B12 levels in women using modern oral contraceptives (OC) containing 20 μg ethinyl estradiol. European Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology and Reproductive Biology. 2003;107(1):57-61.

80. Berenson AB, Rahman M. Effect of hormonal contraceptives on vitamin B12 level and the association of the latter with bone mineral density. Contraception. 2012;86(5):481-7.

81. Quay TA, Schroder TH, Jeruszka-Bielak M, Li W, Devlin AM, Barr SI, et al. High prevalence of suboptimal vitamin B12 status in young adult women of South Asian and European ethnicity. Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism. 2015;40(12):1279-86.

82. Gardyn J, Mittelman M, Zlotnik J, Sela BA, Cohen AM. Oral contraceptives can cause falsely low vitamin B(12) levels. Acta Haematologica. 2000;104(1):22-4.

83. Allen LH. Causes of vitamin B12 and folate deficiency. Food and Nutrition Bulletin. 2008;29(2 Suppl):S20.

84. Selhub J, Morris MS, Jacques PF. In vitamin B12 deficiency, higher serum folate is associated with increased total homocysteine and methylmalonic acid concentrations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2007;104(50):19995-20000.

85. Miller JW, Garrod MG, Allen LH, Haan MN, Green R. Metabolic evidence of vitamin B-12 deficiency, including high homocysteine and methylmalonic acid and low holotranscobalamin, is more pronounced in older adults with elevated plasma folate. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2009;90(6):1586-92.

86. Moore E, Amesa D, Manderb A, Carneb R, Brodatye H, Woodwardg M, et al. Among vitamin B12 deficient older people, high folate levels are associated with worse cognitive function: combined data from three cohorts. Journal of Alzheimer's Disease. 2014;39(3):661-8.

87. Laufer EM, Hartman TJ, Baer DJ, Gunter EW, Dorgan JF, Campbell WS, et al. Effects of moderate alcohol consumption on folate and vitamin B(12) status in postmenopausal women. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2004;58(11):1518-24.

88. Pawlak R, Lester SE, Babatunde T. The prevalence of cobalamin deficiency among vegetarians assessed by serum vitamin B12: a review of literature. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2014;68(5):541-8.

89. National Nutrient Database for Standard Reference: Release 27 [Internet]. 2011 [cited 20/09/2014]. Available from: <u>http://ndb.nal.usda.gov/</u>.

90. Czerwonka M, Szterk A, Waszkiewicz-Robak B. Vitamin B12 content in raw and cooked beef. Meat Science. 2014;96(3):1371-5.

 Sivakumaran S, Huffman L, Sivakumaran S. The Concise New Zealand Food Composition Tables. In: Limited. TNZIfPFR, Health. Mo, editors. 10th ed. Palmerston North, New Zealand. 2014.
 Milk and Milk Products [Internet]. 2014 [cited 20/09/2014]. Available from:

http://www.fao.org/agriculture/dairy-gateway/milk-and-milk-products/en/#.VBzEovmSySo.

93. Squires MW, Naber EC. Vitamin profiles of eggs as indicators of nutritional status in the laying hen: vitamin B12 study. Poultry Science. 1992;71(12):2075-82.

94. Doscherholmen A, McMahon J, Ripley D. Vitamin B12 absorption from eggs. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine (New York, NY). 1975;149(4):987-90.

95. FAO. Agribusiness Handbook: Poultry Meat & Eggs. 2010.

96. Watanabe F, Katsura H, Takenaka S, Enomoto T, Miyamoto E, Nakatsuka T, et al. Characterization of vitamin B12 compounds from edible shellfish, clam, oyster, and mussel. International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition. 2001;52(3):263-8.

97. FAO. World Review of Fisheries and Aquaculture: Part 1. 2012.

98. Nishioka M, Tanioka Y, Miyamoto E, Enomoto T, Watanabe F. TLC Analysis of a Corrinoid Compound from Dark Muscle of the Yellowfin Tuna (Thunnus albacares). Journal of Liquid Chromatography & Related Technologies. 2007;30(15):2245-52.

Appendix A: Vitamin B12 content of whole foods

Food	Vitamin B12 content	References
	(µg/100g)	
Beef Liver	83 μg	36
Lean Beef Cuts	0.7-1.5 μg	37
Chicken Meat	Trace-1.0 μg	38, 39
Lamb Meat	1.6-1.8 μg	39
Milk	0.3-0.4 μg	33, 39
Eggs	0.9-1.5 μg	33, 39, 41, 42
Shellfish	\geq 6.0 µg	44
Fish	~3.0-159 μg	33, 36, 46

Vitamin B12 content per 100g of whole foods.

Vitamin B12 in animal products

Meat

Currently the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) database reports the vitamin B12 contents of cooked beef liver to be approximately 83 μ g/100g (89). Quite differently, lean cuts of beef have relatively less B12, containing 0.7-1.5 μ g/100g (90). This difference is not limited to beef, offal tends to have higher concentrations of B12 than its lean meat counterparts in all animals (89). Chicken meat has relatively small amounts of B12 when compared to beef, with only trace-1.0 μ g/100g (45, 91). Lamb on the other hand is comparable to beef having 1.6-1.8 μ g/100g (91).

Milk

Milk is a major part of many individuals' diets, and while the vitamin B12 content (0.3-0.4 μ g/100g) of various milk varieties is not high (39, 91), it is still a significant contributor of vitamin B12 for many individuals. The intake of dairy products in general populations is high (92) and as such the overall amount of B12 consumed from these products is significant.

Egg

Vitamin B12 content of the whole egg is around 0.9-1.5 μ g/100g (39, 91, 93). Within the egg however the majority of the B12 is contained within the yolk (91, 94). Vitamin B12 consumption from eggs is again generally considered to be large because of the large and growing consumption of eggs around the world (95).

Shellfish

Currently various varieties of shellfish are consumed around the world. Edible shellfish that siphon large amounts of vitamin B12 producing microorganisms have been shown to be outstanding sources of Vitamin B12, with concentrations having been shown to equal or exceed 6 μ g/100g (96).

Fish

Fish (as well as shellfish) are another source of vitamin B12 which is becoming increasingly important around the world. Between 2006 and 2011 the annual consumption of fish and aquaculture increased from 114.3 million tonnes to 130.8 million tonnes and is expected to continue rising (97). Current USDA data shows that for general fish (salmon, trout, tuna etc.) a vitamin B12 content of \approx 3.0-11.0 µg/100g. There is evidence however to show that the content of skipjack tuna ranged from 10-159 µg/100g depending on the type of muscle consumed (39). Similar results were also found in another study by Nishioka (98) looking at the vitamin B12 content of yellow fin tuna.

Appendix B: Bioavailability

Food type	Subjects	Vitamin B12 Content	% Absorption, mean (range)	
	3 healthy young subjects	0.9 µg per 100g portion	65 (56-77)	
Mutton	2 healthy young subjects	3.03 µg per 200g portion	83	
	2 healthy young subjects	5.11 μg per 300 g portion	53	
	6 healthy young subjects	38 µg per serve	9.1 (5.1-19.5)	
Liver Pate	4 older subjects	38 µg per serve	4.5 (2.4-6.0)	
	5 subjects with pernicious anaemia	38 µg per serve	1.8 (0-3.7)	
		0.4-0.6 μg in 100g portion	65 (58-74)	
Chicken	3 healthy young subjects	0.8-1.3 μg in 200g portion	63 (48-76)	
		1.3-1.9 μg in 300g portion	61 (49-75)	
		2.1 µg in 50g portion	42	
Fish	3 healthy young subjects	3.1 µg in 100g portion	38	
		9.2 µg in 200g portion	42	
		13.3 µg in 300g portion	30	
Eggs: boiled, scrambled, fried	18 healthy young subjects	0.9-1.4 μg in 100g portion	3.7-9.2	

Bioavailability of vitamin B12 in different animal products, adapted from O'Leary & Samman (45)

Appendix C: Box plots of vitamin B12 markers



C.1 Box plot of serum vitamin B12 concentrations sorted by group

C.2 Box plot of serum tHcy sorted by group



C.3 Box plot of serum MMA sorted by group

